S180730

SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 5 - 2010

SAVE THE PLASTIC BAG)	CASE NO.	Frederick K. Ohlnch Clerk
COALITION, Petitioner and Respondent,)		Deputy
Petitioner and Respondent,)		
)	Court of Ap	peal, 2d Appellate
v.)	District, Div	ision 5
)	Case No. B2	15788
CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH,)		
Defendant and)		
Respondent and Appellant.)	(Los Angele	s County Superior
	_)	Court Case I	No. BS116362)

CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

OF THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE

ROBERT V. WADDEN, JR. [SBN 108865]
CITY ATTORNEY
CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH
1400 Highland Avenue

I. Issues Presented For Review

a.) Regulation of plastic bags is an important issue for local government there is a need for guidance on the appropriate environmental review such regulation requires.

Some cities (e.g. San Francisco and Malibu) have adopted bans on plastic bag distribution with little or no environmental review. These bans continue in full force and effect while cities like Manhattan Beach and Palo Alto are being mandated to conduct full environmental review before they can implement a ban. San Francisco, Malibu and Fairfax have enacted plastic bag bans, Oakland tried to ban plastic bags, the City of Palo

Alto tried to ban plastic bags, Santa Monica wants to ban plastic bags and Manhattan Beach tried to implement a ban. The one thing all these jurisdictions have in common is that not one of them thought an Environmental Impact Report ("EIR") was required to implement a ban. Groups formed for the express purpose of protecting the environment such as Heal The Bay, Surfrider Foundation, Santa Monica Baykeepers, Earth Resource Foundation and Planet Pals, have strongly supported implementation of plastic bag bans (including Manhattan Beach's) without preparation of an EIR. The proponent of EIR preparation and the petitioner/respondent in this case is, ironically, a coalition of plastic bag manufacturers and distributors, organizations not known for their interest in protecting the environment.

This case has created a *Through The Looking Glass* world where environmental laws are being used to invalidate laws intended to protect the environment. The "defenders" of the environment are the manufacturers and distributors of an environmentally damaging product. If local agencies are to use their regulatory tools to try to protect the environment in the face of powerful industrial interests the rules and burdens imposed by CEQA and other environmental laws should be clear and pragmatic so they aptly serve their purpose.

b.) What is the appropriate standard for determining whether or not there is "substantial evidence" for determining there is a "fair argument" that an EIR is required for a specific project?

Reviewing courts have exercised contrasting approaches to determine the level of deference provided to an agency's determination that evidence of environmental impacts is "substantial." In fact, no coherent definition or test exists for determining the substantiality of evidence required to establish a fair argument that environmental impacts may occur. Consequently some courts simply exercise their independent judgment in reviewing the record by reweighing the evidence and reevaluating the facts. Other courts confine their review to determining whether or not substantial evidence supported the agency's conclusion as to whether or not a fair argument was made. This leaves agencies in a quandary as how to make an adequate record and what level of discretion they have in rejecting evidence based on credibility.

Some appellate courts, such as the panel in the instant case, seem to make the assumption that any scintilla of evidence in the record is sufficient to tilt the scale in favor of doing an EIR. Such an approach seems to inevitably require an EIR in almost every decision. Other courts, (e.g., in *Stanislaus Audobon Society, Inc. v. County of Stanislaus* (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 144, 151; *Quail Botanical Gardens Foundation, Inc. v. City of Encinitas* (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1597, 1603 and *Citizens' Com. To Save Our Village v. City of*

Claremont (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1168) have given deference to the local agency's weighing of the evidence in the record.

The approach of the appellate court in the instant case is a rigid and inflexible interpretation of the "fair argument" test with the effect of making the EIR requirement rote and mandatory rather than the result of a carefully measured decision.

c.) What constitutes a "substantial impact on the environment" for purposes of requiring an EIR?

The dissent in this case asserts that the decision to prepare an EIR in this case ".... stretches the California Environmental Quality Act [citations] and the requirements for an EIR to an absurdity." (Save the Plastic Bag Coalition v. City of Manhattan Beach (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 521, ____; 2010 DJDAR 1485, 1494.) In its initial study the City carefully weighed the potential for environmental impacts against the scope of the proposed project, i.e., banning of distribution of plastic bags at point of sale in Manhattan Beach's small commercial sector. Using a practical, common sense approach the initial study concluded that the potential number of bags affected by the City's ban would be such an infinitesimal percentage that the impact would be de minimus.

Both the trial court and appellate court dismiss this *de minimus* argument. The appellate court opines that the initial study fails to contain any information about the City's "actual experience" with regard to plastic bag use (interestingly it fails to apply this same

standard to the studies submitted by respondents). (Save the Plastic Bag Coalition, 181 Cal.App.4th at ____; 2010 DJDAR at 1493.) The trial court suggested that no de minimus standard exists. The record in this case is replete with information about City and County bag usage and recycling rates as well as comparisons of plastic and paper bag capacity that support and clarify the minimal impact of the City's ban.

It seems relatively simple to calculate that, even if the plastic bag advocates are right and the manufacture of plastic bags is environmentally superior to that of paper bags, the impact from increasing the use of paper bags by decreasing the use of plastic bags does not become significant or substantial until it hits some threshold. An insignificant impact on the environment should not require an EIR. If, as the trial court suggests, there is no legal definition of that threshold then this court should define it and provide guidance as to how to determine it.

d.) There should be a de minimus/common sense threshold for requiring an EIR.

As noted above the trial court asserted that no standard to determine a *de minimus* threshold for substantial impacts on the environment has been established. There have clearly been appellate courts who have informally applied such a standard (e.g., *Leonoff v. Monterey County Board of Supervisors* (1990) 222 Cal.App.3rd 1337). However, in the instant case both the trial court and two thirds of the appellate panel took, albeit apologetically, a rote and simplistic approach to requiring an EIR. In doing so they placed a significant burden on a local jurisdiction (and on all local jurisdictions) desiring

to adopt environmentally sensitive and protective regulations. In an era of shrinking revenues a cost of \$50,000 to \$100,000 (not to mention the cost of litigation defending whatever environmental review is done) every time a controversial piece of legislation is envisioned can and has had a significant chilling effect on the exercise of regulatory power. If no common sense/de minimus standard currently exists in the law to clearly establish the threshold for preparing an EIR perhaps we are entering an era when one should be established.

As the dissent noted no City had ever prepared an EIR for a plastic bag ban because "Who would have thought to do so?" (Save the Plastic Bag Coalition, 181 Cal.App.4th at ____; 2010 DJDAR at 1496.) If there can be this degree of surprise at when an EIR is required then greater clarity is needed.

e.) If the City's negative declaration was flawed, as the appellate court asserts,

The appropriate remedy was to remand the matter to the City for further

environmental review.

If, as the trial court and appellate court suggest, the City's initial study and negative declaration were insufficient to support their conclusions it does not automatically follow that an EIR is required. The appropriate remedy would have been to remand the matter to the City to allow it to correct the initial study and negative declaration to be consistent with the findings of the court. On the one hand the appellate court suggests that the initial study did not sufficiently quantify its findings, on the other hand it rules, without the

benefit of this quantification, that an EIR is required as a matter of law. This is a contradictory finding. If the initial study, quantified as the court suggests, is valid then no EIR would be required. If appropriate findings can be made to justify a negative declaration the appellate court should properly have given the City the option of trying to make such findings thus allowing it to avoid the financial burden and delay of preparing an EIR.

f.) Whether or not a non-individual party with only a commercial interest in a project decision has a sufficient "beneficial interest" to have standing to file an action under CEQA.

A recent appellate court opinion notes that "...commercial and competitive interests are not within the zone of interests CEQA was intended to preserve or protect and cannot serve as a beneficial interest for purposes of the standing requirement." (Waste Management of Alameda County v. County of Alameda (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 1223, 1235.) The instant case was one brought by a party not adversely environmentally affected by the challenged action but very much adversely affected commercially.

It is uncontroverted that respondent's reason for existence is the protection of its commercial interests. At no time during the proceedings did it assert that it or its members would be environmentally affected by the City's ordinance. Both the trial and appellate court erroneously applied the more liberal standing standard for citizen's suits to an action brought by an unincorporated industry lobbying group. While these

distinctions are still vestigial in the published case law we see a growing sensitivity on the part of courts towards the use of CEQA litigation for commercial advantage and to thwart regulation. Ultimately, it is necessary to refine the CEQA standing requirements in order to confine its use as to legitimate environmental issues and prohibit it from being used in commercial battles with no real environmental effect.

II. Statement Of The Case

On July 15, 2008 the City of Manhattan Beach adopted Ordinance No. 2115 which implements a phased ban of distribution of plastic bags at point of sale in the City. The ban affected all retailers and restaurants but initially would be effective against the larger retailers and gradually phased in against smaller stores and restaurants over time. Manhattan Beach is a coastal community in the South Bay area of Los Angeles County with a population of approximately 33,852. It is a bedroom community with a very small retail and business sector. The City did not prepare an Environmental Impact Report for the ordinance but instead relied on an initial study and negative declaration.

The "Save The Plastic Bag Coalition", an unincorporated alliance of plastic bag manufacturers and distributors, objected to the proposed ban. They introduced to the record several studies which suggest that manufacture and distribution of paper bags may have a greenhouse gas impact which is greater than that of plastic bags. None of the studies were specific to southern California or the proposed Manhattan Beach ban. They

were generic and theoretical in nature. None of the studies extrapolated the specific damage to the environment from using paper bags in lieu of plastic bags or attempted to quantify in any way such an impact.

Throughout the process the Coalition made it clear that if the Manhattan Beach ban were adopted they would file a legal action to stop it. True to their word they filed the instant action on August 12, 2008 alleging that the City should have prepared an EIR. On December 18, 2008 respondents sought and obtained a ruling that they were entitled to a preliminary injunction enjoining enforcement of Ordinance 2115. However, they never posted bond nor submitted an order to the court for signature so the injunction never took effect. On February 20, 2009, at a hearing on the petition for writ of mandate, the trial court ruled that the City's ordinance was invalid for failure to comply with CEQA by preparing an EIR. The City filed a timely appeal and on January 27, 2010 Division Five of the Second Appellate District issued an opinion affirming the writ of mandate issued by the trial court with Justice Mosk dissenting. The opinion, including Justice Mosk's dissent, is attached as Exhibit A.

III. Argument

a.) Plastic Bag Regulation and CEQA.

As the appellate court majority conceded in its opinion the problem of plastic waste is not inconsiderable. Somewhere in the north central Pacific Ocean between 135-155 degrees West and 35-42 degrees North lies an area known as the "Great Pacific Garbage Patch." It consists almost entirely of plastic debris accumulated by ocean currents and virtually

indestructible by the forces of nature. It is symbolic of a movement among environmentalists to find a solution to the problem of ever accumulating plastic debris. Groups such as Heal The Bay, Surfrider Foundation, Santa Monica Baykeepers, Earth Resource Foundation, Planet Pals, Endangered Habitat League, and Californians Against Waste (all of whom are on record as having supported the Manhattan Beach ordinance which is the subject of this case) have actively campaigned against the use of plastic bags. The State legislature, under pressure from the plastic bag lobby, has not only refused to regulate plastic bags but has even expressly prohibited local agencies from imposing any type of local fee or recycling requirement on them. (Public Resources Code Section 42254(b) -the legislature did not do an EIR prior to imposing these restrictions). This leaves local agencies concerned with reducing plastic bag use only the option of banning such bags. Cities, in particular those on the coast, are concerned with a ubiquitous non-biodegradable form of trash which is light enough to be strewn about by the wispiest of breezes. In response to this threat to the use of their product the plastic industry has commissioned studies, hired lawyers and formed a coalition dedicated to creating roadblocks by whatever means may be available to local regulation.

If CEQA is to be invoked in this battle its application must not be, as the dissent in this case observed, nonsensical. That is precisely why this court's guidance is necessary in order to prevent a rote and absurd application of a law intended to protect the environment. The use of CEQA as a weapon in this regulatory dispute is a harbinger of

its appearance in more and more policy disputes in the future unless the currently vague and rote application of the law is refined to prevent its abuse.

b.) The Fair Argument Standard.

The appellate court opinion asserts that so long as there is a scintilla of evidence in the record that even suggests a project might have an environmental impact then an EIR must be prepared. Yet, the "fair argument" test as, articulated by the courts, is:

"Under this test, the agency must prepare an EIR whenever substantial evidence in the record supports a fair argument that a proposed project may have a significant effect on the environment . . ." (City of Redlands v. County of San Bernardino (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 398, 405; emphasis added.)

In the instant case the respondents only evidence were a few generic studies (several prepared by industry friendly sources) indicating that that production of paper bags on a macro scale has greater impacts on the environment than production of plastic bags. There was no evidence which attempted to quantify the specific impacts of the Manhattan Beach ban and none which factored in the environmental damage from non biodegradable litter and the much higher recycling rate of paper bags compared with plastic.

The term "substantial evidence" is defined in the CEQA Guidelines as ". . .enough relevant information and reasonable inferences from this information that a fair argument can be made to support a conclusion, even though other conclusions might be reached." (14 Cal. Code Regs. Section 15384(a).) Some weighing of evidence is permitted on the part of the City Council and should be respected by the courts in deference to the separation of powers clause in the California Constitution. (Cal. Const., Article III, Section 3.)

In a CEQA context a court must defer to the agency's review on ". . .any legitimate disputed areas of credibility." (Quail Botanical Gardens Foundation, Inc. v. City of Encinitas (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1597, 1603.) The City Council was entitled to weigh the credibility of petitioners' assertions. Clearly, respondents have a huge financial interest in blocking any ban on plastic bags and their positions, unlike those of Heal the Bay, Surfrider Foundation, Earth Resource Foundation, Santa Monica Baykeepers or Endangered Habitat League, can hardly be expected to be dispassionately in the interest of the environment.

"The courts should not substitute our credibility determinations for those of the public agency. 'The administrative agency is entitled to believe or disbelieve even uncontradicted testimony' by a biased or otherwise incredible witness." (*Leonoff v. Monterey County Board of Supervisors* (1990) 222 Cal.App.3rd 1337, 1349.) "The

lead agency has some discretion to determine whether particular evidence is substantial." (Gentry v. City of Murrieta (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 1359, 1400.)

"The determination of whether or not evidence is 'substantial' is in itself a weighing process. The court does not look only to the evidence relied upon by appellants to the exclusion of all contrary evidence. Evidence that rebuts, contradicts or diminishes the reliability or credibility of appellants' evidence is properly considered. The absence of supporting evidence is properly considered." (Citizens' Com. To Save Our Village v. City of Claremont (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1168.)

In the instant case no deference was given to the determination of the City as to whether or not respondent's evidence was substantial nor did the trial court nor the appellate court majority make any effort to themselves analyze the substantiality of the evidence presented. In part this is because the case law has no clearly articulated standard for determining the threshold of substantiality. The courts cited above did permit the lead agency to weigh the evidence in the record and paid deference to that effort. However, the appellate court majority in the instant case and other reviewing courts (e.g.: Friends of "B" Street v. City of Hayward (1980) 106 Cal.App.3rd 988; Sierra Club v. County of Sonoma (1992) 6th Cal.App.4th 1307) have simply ruled that any evidence in the record created a "fair argument" of environmental impact and failed to defer to the lead agency's

determination or to conduct such a weighing and analysis themselves. Indeed the dissent focuses clearly on this issue in criticizing the majority's reliance on the generic reports submitted by respondents: "I do not consider these reports to constitute substantial evidence that a distribution ban within this small city will impact the environment." (Save the Plastic Bag Coalition, 181 Cal.App.4th at ____; 2010 DJDAR at 1496.)

The "fair argument" test as employed by the majority in this case is too simplistic to allow a careful weighing of the environmental consequences of a project in an era of limited public resources. As applied in the instant case it inevitably leads to requiring an EIR even where causation of environmental impacts is tenuous and unlikely. This encourages abuse of CEQA by those whose motives have nothing to do with protecting the environment.

c.) Absence of Substantial Impact On the Environment.

In his dissent Justice Mosk notes that the City should not be required "... to consider the effect of a ban on the distribution (not use) of plastic bags in the City on such matters as deforestation, energy use, acid rain, greenhouse gas emissions, water, waste and air quality. These purported elements are not significantly affected by this small scale application of the ordinance." (Save the Plastic Bag Coalition, 181 Cal.App.4th at ____; 2010 DJDAR at 1496.) Yet these are the only elements which respondent asserts the ordinance will affect.

Both the appellate majority and the trial court seemed to be reluctant to give credence to the *de minimus* argument propounded by the City's initial study. The trial court noted in response to the City's *de minimus* argument that "[t]he contention has no merit because it is supported by no standard by which to determine what is 'minimal.' " If that is the case then CEQA is not capable of distinguishing between a small project with minimal impacts and a similar project of larger scope. Both projects would be treated similarly and require an EIR.

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