SUPREME COURT COPY

No. S180720

(Court of Appeal, Second Appellate Dist., Div. Five. No. B215788) (County of Los Angeles Super. Ct. No. BS116362)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SAVE THE PLASTIC BAG COALITION,

an unincorporated association

PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT

V.

CITY OF MANHATTAN BEACH,

a municipal corporation

DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 24 2010

SAVE THE PLASTIC BAG COALITION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW ICK K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

STEPHEN L. JOSEPH

State Bar No.189234 350 Bay Street, Suite 100-328 San Francisco, CA 94133 Phone: (415) 577-6660

Fax: (415) 869-5380 E-mail: sljoseph.law@earthlink.net

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

CEQA is not a fair competition statutory scheme. Numerous findings and declarations were made by the Legislature with respect to CEQA. (Pub. Res. Code, §§ 21000-21005.) None of them suggest a purpose of fostering, protecting, or otherwise affecting economic competition among commercial enterprises.

Thus, Waste Management's commercial and competitive interests are not within the zone of interests CEQA was intended to preserve or protect and cannot serve as a beneficial interest for purposes of the standing requirement.

At 1236: The matter of a citizen's action is a long-established exception to the requirement of a personal beneficial interest. The exception applies where the question is one of public right and the object of the action is to enforce a public duty -- in which case it is sufficient that the plaintiff be interested as a citizen in having the laws executed and the public duty enforced. [citing Green v. Obledo, supra, and other cases.]

At 1237: This exception promotes a policy of guaranteeing citizens an opportunity to ensure that the purpose of legislation establishing a public right is not impaired or defeated by a governmental agency.

The petitioner in Waste Management did not raise any environmental issues whatsoever. It admitted that the sole purpose of its petition for writ of mandate was to use CEQA to *impose on its competitor* the expense of preparing an EIR.

Waste Management is easily distinguishable from the present case. Plaintiff's action in this case is based solely on environmental issues. The object of Plaintiff's action is to enforce a public duty. It is in the public interest that decision-makers and the public be informed about the environmental impacts of the City's proposed ordinance.

In *Burrtec Waste Industries, Inc. v. City of Colton,* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1133, two competing corporations, Taormina and Burrtec, were engaged in solid waste recycling and disposal. The City of Colton approved a Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) and granted a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to Taormina to operate a solid waste facility. Burrtec alleged that the notice of intention to adopt the MND was not properly posted, as a result of which it did not find out about its competitor's application for the amended CUP until it was too late to comment or appeal the city's approval. Burrtec did not allege that it would suffer any environmental harm. The court stated (at 1138-39):

CEQA litigants often may be characterized as having competing economic interests. [Citation] But, under CEQA, a corporation is a person entitled to receive notice and to bring a suit for noncompliance. [CEQA §21066.] Furthermore, as noted by the trial court, the interest asserted by Burrtec in its writ petition is not a commercial one but an issue involving the adequacy of the public notice required by CEQA. Where a plaintiff seeks by mandamus to enforce a public duty, especially under CEQA, standing is properly conferred: "[S]trict rules of standing that might be appropriate in other contexts have no application

where broad and long-term effects are involved." [Bozung v. Local Agency Formation Com., 13 Cal.3d 263, 272.]

Waste Management does not compel a different result. Sufficient evidence supports the superior court's determination that the express beneficial interest asserted by Burrtec is not rank commercialism but rather the need for public notice under CEQA.

The City says that "it is uncontroverted that [Plaintiff's] reason for existence is the protection of its commercial interests." The City's assertion is totally untrue and has been controverted throughout this case. According to the Opinion (at 15), "Plaintiff counters that it exists to respond to the misinformation, myths, and exaggerations that have been disseminated about the environmental impacts of plastic bags." (See also Plaintiff's Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate ¶¶11-12, App. at 18.)

One such myth is that paper bags are better for the environment than plastic bags. Another myth is that 100,000 marine mammals and a million seabirds die each year from ingesting plastic bags. The allegation is a central claim of anti-plastic bag activists. However, the Canadian report on which the allegation is based mentioned only *discarded fishing tackle* as the cause of the deaths, not plastic bags. There was no mention of plastic bags.⁵

⁵ "Series of blunders turned the plastic bag into global villain," *The Times* of London, March 8, 2008. (AR 398-400.) In its first Staff Report, the City said: "It is estimated that more than 1 million sea birds, 100,000 marine mammals and countless fish die annually through ingestion of and entanglement in marine debris, including plastic bags." (AR 17.) Heal the Bay is spreading the myth. (Heal the Bay written statement to Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors, App. at 763).

There are many other environmental myths and exaggerations. Unfortunately environmental groups have not seen fit to speak out about such misinformation. Plaintiff is playing an essential role in ensuring that decision-makers and the public are not misled.

The law remains clear and uniform. Waste Management is not a conflicting opinion.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY STATED THE "FAIR ARGUMENT" TEST

In issuing a Negative Declaration, the City relied on Guidelines §15061(b)(3), known as the "common sense exemption," which states as follows:

Where it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment, the activity is not subject to CEQA.

The City argues that the Court of Appeal was required to defer to the City's determination. (Petition at 12.) That is not the law. In *Mejia v. City of Los Angeles (California Home Development, LLC)*, (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 322, 332-333, the court stated:

Application of the 'fair argument' test is a question of law for our independent review. [Citations.] We review the trial court's findings and conclusions de novo [citation], and do not defer to the agency's determination [citation] except on 'legitimate, disputed issues of credibility.' [Citation] "Under this standard, deference to the agency's determination is not appropriate and its decision not to require an EIR can be upheld only when there is no credible evidence to the contrary. [Citation.]"

The City cites three cases that it claims support the proposition that courts must defer to the agency's decision. (Petition at 3-4.) However,

those cases do not stand for that proposition. (Stanislaus Audubon Society, Inc. v. County of Stanislaus (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 144, 151 ["Application of this standard is a question of law and deference to the agency's determination is not appropriate."]; Quail Botanical Gardens Foundation, Inc. v. City of Encinitas (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1597, 1602 ["Under this standard, deference to the agency's determination is not appropriate and its decision not to require an EIR can be upheld only when there is no credible evidence to the contrary."]. Deference was not discussed in the third case cited by the City: Citizens' Com. to Save Our Village v. City of Claremont (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1157.)

The City asks this Court to accept a "challenge... to provide fresh and meaningful interpretation" of the fair argument, substantial impact and standing requirements of CEQA. (Petition at 22.) There is no reason to do so. The rules are long standing, consistent and clear. Nothing in the Court of Appeal's opinion calls them into question. There are no conflicting authorities.

The Guidelines, state and local rules and regulations, administrative procedures, governmental documents and forms including the Environmental Checklist Form, are based on 40 years of settled interpretations of CEQA law.⁶ Thousands of Initial Studies and EIRs are planned or in process based on those settled interpretations and the Environmental Checklist Form. Creating "fresh" new interpretations of law would cause confusion and upheaval. There is no justification for it.

⁶ The Environmental Checklist Form is Appendix G to the Guidelines.

III. THIS COURT CANNOT ESTABLISH LEGAL THRESHOLDS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The City says that this Court "should define" a "legal threshold" as to when an environmental impact is significant and "provide guidance as to how to determine it." (Petition at 5.) The City states: "A clear statement by this court as to the level and extent an impact must reach before being considered substantial is necessary." (Petition at 16.)

What is the point of a legal threshold if the Initial Study contains no data? In any event The City is asking this Court to usurp the exclusive statutory authority of the Governor's Office of Planning and Research (OPR) and public agencies regarding the development of any such thresholds. (Pub. Res. Code §21083.) OPR developed the CEQA Guidelines. (Guidelines §15000.) Guidelines §15064.7(a) states that "each public agency is encouraged to develop and publish thresholds of significance that the agency uses in the determination of significance of environmental effects." According to §15064.7(b), any such thresholds may only be adopted by "ordinance, resolution, rule or regulation, and developed through a public review process and supported by substantial evidence." This Court cannot supplant OPR and public agencies in the development of thresholds of significance and cast aside the public review process.

Moreover, this Court cannot be expected to foresee all factual scenarios. It is impossible to anticipate and predetermine how many tons of CO₂ or megajoules of energy or kilograms of solid waste (*et cetera*) would be significant for all kinds of projects and all possible permutations.

IV. THE COURT OF APPEAL FOUND THAT THE CITY'S INITIAL STUDY LACKED ANY DATA AND WAS UTTERLY INADEQUATE

As we have seen, the Court of Appeal ruled that the Initial Study was inadequate.

Take the impacts on local landfills for example. According to the Boustead table (Opinion at 10), 1,000 paper bags result in 33.9 kg of solid waste. Plastic bags with the same carrying capacity as 1,000 paper bags result in just 7.0 kg of solid waste. The Court of Appeal pointed out that there was no information in the Initial Study regarding how the City disposes of its trash and "whether the city has a landfill that would be impacted by any increased paper bag use." (Opinion at 26.) Why couldn't the City have included such information in the Initial Study?

It was not Plaintiff's burden to find out any of the information that the City failed to include in the Initial Study. When preparing an Initial Study, "an agency must use its best efforts to find out and disclose all that it reasonably can." Guidelines §15144. The local agency has the burden of proof. Sundstrom v. County of Mendocino, supra, 202 Cal.App.3d at 311 [local agency has the burden of proof and cannot hide behind its own failure to gather relevant data]; County Sanitation Dist. No. 2 of Los Angeles Co. v. County of Kern, supra, 127 Cal.App.4th at 1544 [lead agency bears the burden to investigate potential environmental impacts.].)

By dismissively labeling all impacts as "minimal or nonexistent," the City provided only argument and unsubstantiated opinion. (AR 115, 118.) If a city or county could omit all data and summarily dismiss potential impacts, CEQA would be meaningless.

V. THE CITY SHOULD NOT BE PERMITTED TO PREPARE A NEW INITIAL STUDY

The City asks for an opportunity to prepare another Initial Study, which should be taken as an admission that the existing one is totally deficient. (Petition at 6.) The City has waived this issue as it was not raised in a petition for rehearing. Further, the City has never said what changes it would make to the Initial Study.

Nothing can negate the evidence already in the record. (*Leonoff v. Monterey County Board of Supervisors* (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1337, 1348 ["If such evidence [supporting a fair argument of significant environmental impact] is found, it cannot be overcome by substantial evidence to the contrary."]; *Friends of "B" Street v. City of Hayward* (1980) 106 Cal.App.3d 988, 1002 ["[E]vidence to the contrary is not sufficient to support a decision to dispense with preparation of an EIR and adopt a negative declaration, because it could be 'fairly argued' that the project might have a significant environmental impact."].)

A second opportunity would not help the City because an amended Initial Study would definitely have to include a cumulative analysis of the proposed Los Angeles County plastic bag ban. (Guidelines §15063(b)(1), §15065(3); Communities for a Better Environment v. California Resources Agency, (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 98, 114, 119; San Franciscans for Reasonable Growth v. City and County of San Francisco, (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 61, 75.) In December 2009, the County determined that its proposed ban may have a significant negative effect on the environment and that an EIR is therefore required.⁷

⁷ http://dpw.lacounty.gov/epd/plasticbags/pdf/Initial_Study_12012009.pdf.

The City cites *Gentry v. City of Murrieta* (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 1359. (Petition at 18.) In that case, the entire project needed to be redefined by the agency. There was no way of knowing whether the redefined project would require an EIR.⁸

VI. JUSTICE MOSK'S DISSENT IS A PLEA TO BEND THE RULES FOR A "SMALL CITY" THAT "BELIEVES" IT IS DOING THE RIGHT THING IN CHALLENGING ECONOMIC TIMES

Justice Mosk believes that plastic bags should be banned. He made that abundantly clear. Regrettably, he seems inclined to bend the rules past breaking point to achieve that objective. How else can we interpret the following statements in his opinion?

<u>Dissent at 1:</u> Requiring the small city of Manhattan Beach (City), containing a little over 33,000 people, to expend public resources to prepare an [EIR] for enacting what the City *believes* is an environmentally friendly ordinance... stretches [CEQA] and the requirements for an EIR to an absurdity. (Italics added.)

<u>Dissent at 8:</u> In this day of limits, we must interpret statutes reasonably so as not to require the unnecessary expenditure of public monies for no corresponding benefit.

There are three elements in Justice Mosk's view of CEQA. First, "small cities" should be subject to different rules under CEQA than big

⁸ The ruling in *Gentry* was as follows: "Nothing in this opinion should be taken to mean that the City must prepare an EIR for the Project. When the City takes up the matter again, it may consider: whether the Project is a change or modification to either the Plan EIR or the Adobe I EIR, and if so, whether an SEIR is required; whether the Project is partially exempt under section 21083.3; whether to use tiering; and whether to propose a new mitigated negative declaration." 36 Cal.App.4th 1359 at 1424.

cities. Second, if a small city "believes" that it is acting in an environmentally friendly manner, it should not be required to prepare an EIR. Third, CEQA (and other statutes) must be interpreted differently in challenging economic times.

The majority responded to Justice Mosk's extraordinary statements as follows (Opinion at 26):

There is no statutory exemption from compliance with [CEQA] based on a city's geographical or population size. Nor have we found any decisional authority to the effect that a small city should not be required to expend its resources to comply with [CEQA] when it believes its actions will have a positive effect on the environment.

We would add three points. First, no one is forcing the City to ban plastic bags. Second, CEQA is not about finances. It is about the environment. Third, nothing excuses the fact that the City in this case prepared an inadequate Initial Study.

Justice Mosk asked whether government publication of books or policies to shift from cloth towels or hand blowers in restrooms to paper would constitute a project under CEQA. (Dissent at 3.) We have three responses. First, the City agrees and admits that banning plastic bags is a project under CEQA. The City told the Court of Appeal that "clearly CEQA applies...We never argued that it wasn't a project." (Opinion at 18.) Second, the City has not raised the issue of whether this is a "project" in its Petition. Third, whether any other projects or purported projects require EIRs is not at issue in this case. Here we are concerned with banning plastic bags. Nothing else.

While Justice Mosk did not agree with the outcome, he did not identify any conflicting authorities.

VII. THE EIR PROCESS IS WELL UNDERWAY

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